



SUPPORTING IMMIGRANT INTEGRATION IN EUROPE

WHAT ROLE FOR ORIGIN COUNTRIES' SUBNATIONAL AUTHORITIES?

By Özge Bilgili and Ilire Agimi





















SUPPORTING IMMIGRANT INTEGRATION IN EUROPE

WHAT ROLE FOR ORIGIN COUNTRIES' SUBNATIONAL AUTHORITIES?

By Özge Bilgili and Ilire Agimi

February 2015















ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank all the interviewees from both origin and destination countries for sharing their knowledge and experiences. The authors expand their gratitude to Edith van Ewijk for providing her insights on the topic and to Maria Vincenza Desiderio for her review and comments on previous versions of the report. A draft version of the report was presented at the INTERACT International Workshop on 'The Role of Countries of Origin in Migrant Integration in the EU. Integration as a Three-Way Process', held in Barcelona, 23-24 October 2014.

© 2015 Migration Policy Institute Europe. All Rights Reserved.

Cover design and Typesetting: April Siruno

No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopy, or any information storage and retrieval system, without permission from MPI Europe. A full-text PDF of this document is available for free download from www.mpieurope.org.

Information for reproducing excerpts from this report can be found at www.migrationpolicy.org/about/copyright-policy. Inquiries can also be directed to communications@migrationpolicy.org.

Suggested citation: Bilgili, Özge and Ilire Agimi. 2015. Supporting Immigrant Integration in Europe: What Role for Origin Countries' Subnational Authorities? Brussels: Migration Policy Institute Europe.



INTERACT: Researching Third-Country Nationals' Integration as a Three-Way Process Involving Immigrants, Countries of Emigration, and Countries of Immigration as Actors of Integration

Approximately 25 million persons born outside the European Union (third-country nationals) currently live in EU Member States and represent 5 per cent of the total EU population. Integrating these immigrants—enabling their participation in the destination society at the same level as natives—is an active process that involves both the receiving society and immigrants working together to build a cohesive whole.

Policymaking on integration is commonly regarded as primarily a matter of concern for the receiving state, with general disregard for the role of the sending state. However, migrants belong to two places: their origin and their destination. While integration takes place in the latter, migrants maintain a variety of links with the former. New means of communication facilitating contact between migrants and their homes, globalisation bringing greater cultural diversity to host countries, and nation-building in source countries that see expatriate nationals as a strategic resource have all transformed the way migrants interact with their home country.

The INTERACT project looks at how governments and nongovernmental institutions in origin countries, including the media, make transnational bonds a reality, and have developed tools that operate economically (to boost financial transfers and investments); culturally (to maintain or revive cultural heritage); politically (to expand the constituency); and legally (to support their rights).

The INTERACT project explores several important questions:

To what extent do the immigrant integration policies of EU Member States and the expatriate-focused policies of governments and nonstate actors in origin countries complement or contradict each other? How do policies in origin and destination countries affect the successful integration of migrants, and what obstacles do they raise?

Researchers in the European Union have produced a considerable body of high-quality information and analysis on the integration of migrants. Building on existing research to investigate the impact of origin countries on the integration of migrants in the host country remains to be done.

INTERACT is cofinanced by the European Union and is implemented by a consortium built by the Center for Ethnic and Migration Studies (CEDEM), UPF, and MPI Europe.

For more information:

INTERACT Robert Schuman Centre for Advanced Studies (EUI) Villa Malfrasca Vi Bocaccio 135 50014 San Domenico di Fiesole Italy

Tel: +39 055 46 85 817 Fax: +39 055 46 85 770 Email: migration@eui.eu



TABLE OF CONTENTS

| EXECUTIVE SUMMARY | 3 |
|--|----|
| I. INTRODUCTION | 4 |
| II. SUBNATIONAL AUTHORITIES RESPONSIBLE FOR DIASPORA ENGAGEMENT | 6 |
| III. SUBNATIONAL AND LOCAL INSTITUTIONS' INVOLVEMENT IN INTEGRATION ABROAD | 7 |
| A. Examples of direct involvement | 8 |
| B. Examples of indirect involvement | |
| A. Constraints in the origin countries | 15 |
| V. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS | 20 |
| WORKS CITED | 23 |
| ABOUT THE AUTHORS | 27 |



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

National governments in migrant-origin countries can be an important voice in promoting the integration of their nationals at destination; far less attention has been paid to the important role that subnational authorities in countries of origin can play. Relevant policies and programmes may be direct or indirect; that is, they may deliberately seek to further immigrant integration or have spillover effects that contribute to it. This report represents the first attempt to investigate how the activities of origin countries' regional and local institutions may improve the lives of emigrants to Member States of the European Union (EU), and assesses the potential benefits of greater involvement.

In federal or otherwise decentralised states, subnational authorities may function at the region, state/province, or city (municipality) level. In decentralised and federal states, subnational (regional/devolved) authorities are often involved in diaspora engagement for development. A closer look reveals that activities meant to engage diasporas for development may also have relevance to issues surrounding integration. Moreover, they are also active in promoting employment, and often take up responsibility for informing, preparing, and protecting migrants who move to find a job abroad.

Migrant-sending cities, meanwhile, can only contribute to the integration of migrants at destination by cooperating with their institutional counterparts abroad. Most often such cooperation takes place through city-to-city partnerships. Municipal practices relevant to immigrant integration are more varied than those observed at the regional level. Besides interventions on employment, political participation, and health care, local authorities may contribute positively to integration at destination through diplomatic visits, community celebrations and other cultural initiatives, and educational exchange programmes—all of which help to increase trust and mutual understanding between immigrants and their host societies.

This report represents the first attempt to investigate how the activities of origin countries' regional and local institutions may improve the lives of emigrants to Member States of the European Union (EU).

While the examples of good practice discussed in this report provide much hope for the future, a wide range of challenges hamper sending countries' subnational authorities from doing more to promote the integration of emigrants at destination. Key challenges include inadequately devolved competences and—even where such competences are in place—financial constraints (affecting cities in particular) that make it difficult to address competing policy priorities and take opportunities to cooperate with host countries. Political discourse about migrants and the predominant role of national authorities in diaspora engagement may also discourage subnational authorities from doing more to further integration.

Enhancing the involvement of subnational authorities in integration efforts first requires greater recognition of these authorities' potential impact. The subnational authorities of migrant-sending countries would do well to participate in EU-level city and regional networks and support immigrant integration in Europe through knowledge sharing, the exchange of best practices, and consultation on innovative cooperation mechanisms. It is important to include stakeholders from the private sector, nongovernmental organisations (NGOs), and integration councils—as well as immigrants themselves—in the development and implementation of initiatives. Integration policies and programmes, be they initiated by destination or origin countries, are more successful and sustainable when key members of immigrant communities are involved as initiators, translators, and facilitators. Moreover, clearly defined goals and subtargets improve communication and trust among the stakeholders and communities involved. Expanding city partnerships between origin and destination localities is one promising avenue of action.



I. INTRODUCTION

Today, throughout EU Member States, the responsibility for the design and implementation of integration policies involves an array of institutions across national, regional, and local levels. Immigrant integration is a cross-cutting policy issue whose governance is shared (1) horizontally, across different government portfolios (regardless of the existence of a centralised integration authority at the ministerial level) and (2) vertically, by subnational and local authorities. EU-level institutions also contribute to the governance of immigrant integration in Member States, notably by leveraging significant funding. International organisations, noninstitutional actors (e.g., from the private sector), and nongovernmental actors (including migrant organisations) play a key role. Within this framework, the INTERACT project is the first comprehensive attempt to explore the role of *origin countries* in the integration of migrants in destination countries. The project focuses on major migrant-sending countries to Europe³ and looks at the governance of immigrant integration using a holistic approach that encompasses the dimensions of employment, social welfare, education, health, political participation, culture, and social and residential inclusion.

Other INTERACT project deliverables have demonstrated that countries of origin can help further emigrants' integration in host societies through diaspora engagement policies, which are mainly the domain of national authorities. This report aims to shed light on how the involvement of *subnational actors* in the design and implementation of policy measures can have a positive impact on the integration trajectories of migrants. In this report the term 'subnational authorities' is used in contrast with national-level authorities, and includes regional political entities, devolved authorities and federated states in decentralised countries, as well as cities (municipalities).

This report contributes to the debate on how the subnational authorities of origin countries can support the integration of migrants abroad, and discusses relevant obstacles as well as opportunities.

While much is known about how the subnational authorities of receiving countries help govern immigrant integration, little is known about the role of corresponding authorities in sending countries.

In the European Union it is largely recognised that subnational authorities play a central role in the governance of immigrant integration in Member States. Across the European Union regional and local authorities have competence over the implementation and delivery of a broad range of measures and services relevant to integration. The local level, in particular, is key: it is here that day-to-day integration takes place, policies are implemented, and practical solutions for long-term processes are found.

While much is known about how the subnational authorities of receiving countries help govern immigrant integration,⁸ little is known about the role of corresponding authorities in sending countries.⁹

The activities of subnational authorities in immigrants' countries of origin deserve greater attention. As of now, they are overshadowed by the substantial diaspora engagement policies seen most often at the national level. These policies, it might be noted, are relevant to integration even though they do not directly target it. A number of major migrant-sending countries (including Morocco, Turkey, and Mexico) have started to promote the successful integration of their immigrants abroad, with the expectation that successfully integrated immigrants have more to offer to their countries of origin.

- 1 Maria Vincenza Desiderio with Agnieszka Weinar, Supporting Immigrant Integration in Europe? Developing the Governance for Diaspora Engagement (Brussels: Migration Policy Institute Europe, 2014), www.migrationpolicy.org/research/immigrant-integration-europe-developing-governance-diaspora-engagement.
- Oliver Treib, Holger Bähr, and Gerda Falkner, 'Modes of Governance: A Note toward Conceptual Clarification', *European Governance Papers* 05, no. 02 (2005): 1–22.
- 3 INTERACT priority countries of origin are: Algeria, Belarus, Brazil, China, Ecuador, India, Lebanon, Moldova, Morocco, Pakistan, the Philippines, the Russian Federation, Senegal, Syria, Tunisia, Turkey, and Ukraine.
- 4 Desiderio and Weinar, Supporting Immigrant Integration in Europe?
- 5 Ibid.
- 6 Rinus Penninx, Karen Kraal, Marco Martiniello, and Steven Vertovec, Citizenship in European Cities: Immigrants, Local Politics and Integration Policies (Aldershot: Ashgate, 2004).
- 7 Rinus Penninx, Dutch Integration Policies after the Van Gogh Murder (Ottawa: House of the Commons, 2005).
- 8 Commissioner for Integration and Migration of the Berlin Senate, *Encouraging Diversity—Strengthening Cohesion: Integration Policy in Berlin 2007-2011* (Berlin: Commissioner for Integration and Migration of the Berlin Senate, 2012).
- 9 Emre Arslan, 'Turkish Berlin: integration policy and urban space', Ethnic and Racial Studies 38 no. 3 (2015): 460-2.
- 10 Eva Østergaard-Nielsen, 'Codevelopment and Citizenship: The Nexus between Policies on Local Migrant Incorporation and Migrant Transnational Practices in Spain', Ethnic and Racial Studies 34, no. 1 (2011): 20–39.
- 11 Özge Bilgili and Melissa Siegel, 'From Economic to Political Engagement: Analysing the Changing Role of the Turkish Diaspora', in Emigration Nations,



The subnational authorities of origin countries have a particular role to play in diaspora engagement and integration, provided they are given adequate competences and resources.

In most of the migrant-sending countries analysed in this report, local authorities have traditionally lacked competence over any policy design, let alone that relevant to migrant integration. But as a significant number of these countries undergo decentralisation reforms and put forward efforts to strengthen local governance, exploring the role of subnational authorities in supporting migrants becomes less trivial. Against this background, this report investigates whether and how subnational authorities in origin countries are able to support the social cohesion and integration of migrants at destination. In many cases, such authorities hold valuable knowledge on migrants' background, education and health records, skills, potential for employment in the destination country, and so on. Considering their specialised knowledge, how can the capacity of these authorities be strengthened to coordinate, fund, and effectively support immigrant integration in the long run?

Ultimately, gathering information on these processes and actively engaging with authorities at all levels of government in both sending and receiving countries may aid the design and implementation of new policy approaches to immigrant integration—particularly where relevant policy is being mainstreamed. It should be noted here that the role of origin countries' subnational authorities cannot be understood independent of the migrant-receiving country context and of relations with counterparts at destination.

From the perspective of origin countries, the governance of immigrant integration is a matter of international relations.¹²

Subnational and local institutions in origin countries can only contribute to immigrant integration in cooperation with the subnational authorities in destination countries. Various forms of international cooperation can be observed at the subnational level; specifically at the local level, the most relevant is city-to-city partnerships (also referred to as town twinning).¹³ Enhancing cooperation between subnational authorities at origin and destination has the potential to effect cost-efficient integration management tailored to 'the diverse diversities' that make up the mosaic of the immigrant population in each EU Member State.

This report investigates the role of subnational authorities using two methods. The first is an extensive review of the literature on authorities in the origin countries addressed by INTERACT and any activities that may be relevant to immigrant integration. The second is primary research: interviews with government officials, policymakers, and practitioners from both origin and destination countries were conducted to gain detailed information on how subnational authorities cooperate and contribute to immigrant integration, and to evaluate the obstacles to more successful and sustainable interventions.

Enhancing cooperation between subnational authorities at origin and destination has the potential to effect cost-efficient integration management.

This report focuses on well-established migration corridors in Europe, with the assumption that the existence of historical links such as linguistic ties, chain migration, or geographical proximity makes cooperation easier.

After a general discussion of subnational actors in states where diaspora engagement has been decentralised, the report examines the linkages between Turkey and Germany, Turkey and the Netherlands, and Morocco and the Netherlands. The Morocco-Spain migration corridor is also explored. In all cases, the report distinguishes between direct and indirect involvement: that is, those policies and programmes that clearly aim to support migrant integration at

ed. Michael Collyer (Houndsmills, Basingstoke, Hampshire, and New York: Palgrave, 2013); Özge Bilgili and Silja Weyel, 'Diaspora Engagement in Morocco. Understanding the Implications of a Changing Perspective on Capacity and Practices' (Migration Policy Brief no. 10, Maastricht Graduate School of Governance, Maastricht, Netherlands, 2012), http://mgsog.merit.unu.edu/ISacademie/docs/PB10.pdf; Alexandra Délano, 'From limited to active engagement: Mexico's emigration policies from a foreign policy perspective (2000–2006)', *International Migration Review* 43, no. 4 (2009): 764-814.

¹² Bernadia I. Tjandradewi and Peter J. Marcotullio, 'City-to-City Networks: Asian Perspectives on Key Elements and Areas for Success', *Habitat International: A Journal of the Study of Human Settlements* 33, no. 2 (2009): 165–72; Marike Bontenbal, 'City Networking with the Global South: Dutch Policy and Practice', *Tijdschrift voor economische en sociale geografie* 101, no. 4 (2010): 462–72; Herman Van der Wusten and Virginie Mamadouh, 'The Networks of European City Governance', in *The Europeanization of Cities: Policies, Urban Change and Urban Networks*, eds. Alexander Hamedinger and Alexander Wolffhardt (Amsterdam: Techne Press, 2010).

¹³ City partnerships are defined as the 'construction and practice, by various groups and to various ends, of relatively formal relationships between two towns or cities usually located in different nation-states'. See Nick Clarke, 'In What Sense "Spaces of Neoliberalism"? The New Localism, the New Politics of Scale and Town Twinning', *Political Geography* 28 (2009): 496.



destination, and those that have a symbolic or ancillary role in doing so. Current challenges are discussed, as are the potential benefits of strengthening the role of subnational authorities in immigrant integration. In the conclusion, suggestions are offered on how to enhance this role.

II. SUBNATIONAL AUTHORITIES RESPONSIBLE FOR DIASPORA ENGAGEMENT

In most of the major source countries for migrants to EU Member States, emigration and diaspora policy design remains highly centralised; the responsibility of local authorities is generally limited to implementation. In some cases, however, particularly in federal states, subnational authorities play a role in diaspora engagement. China, the Philippines, and India illustrate various ways that diaspora engagement is executed at the subnational level.

Establishing territorial branches of central diaspora institutions at the subnational level is one way to decentralise the governance of diaspora engagement. In China, the central Overseas Chinese Affairs Office (OCAO) has branches in 30 provinces and a number of cities across the country, making it one of the largest networks of local diaspora offices in the world.

In most of the major source countries for migrants to EU Member States, emigration and diaspora policy design remains highly centralised.

The local offices of OCAO are mainly responsible for implementing the principles, policies, laws, and regulations of the central government concerning the affairs of Chinese citizens overseas. ¹⁴ Their activities are bound strictly by national policy. Among various responsibilities, these offices research and draft detailed guidelines for implementation and supporting policies, and formulate development plans for engaging emigrants from their municipality. ¹⁵ For example, local offices are in charge of studying the conditions of overseas Chinese and suggesting cultural exchange programmes. In cooperation with the State Council and other relevant authorities, the local branches contact cultural organisations and the schools of Chinese nationals residing overseas to provide support for the work of these nationals. ¹⁶ The OCAO office in Henan province, for instance, actively searches for Chinese professors to teach back home. ¹⁷ Other local authorities in China, including in cities such as Shanghai and Macao, are also responsible for implementing nationally designed policies to engage the Chinese diaspora. The principles of these policies are to encourage immigrant Chinese to respect the culture of the host country, integrate with their host society, promote Chinese heritage and culture in the host country, and promote cohesion among Chinese communities abroad. ¹⁸ Of note, integration is explicitly included in these objectives. The importance of this explicit reference should not be underestimated amid the diaspora policy's overarching focus on development. In particular, the Chinese example illustrates the potential of decentralising diaspora engagement to strengthen cultural and linguistic ties.

Similarly, in the Philippines, the government has decentralised diaspora engagement at the subnational level through three special offices under the Department of Labor and Employment, and the Department of Foreign Affairs. In 2010 the *Philippine Republic Act on Migrant Workers* 10022²⁰ mandated local government units to establish overseas Filipino worker (OFW) desks, also known as migrant desks. These desks are an extended arm of the central

¹⁴ The Overseas Chinese Affairs Office (OCAO) is also involved in the formulation of relevant policies on the entry and exit of overseas Chinese. While this is not directly linked to the support of Chinese migrants' integration in destination countries, it nevertheless influences it.

¹⁵ OCAO, 'Overseas Chinese Affairs Office of the People's Government of Beijing Municipality', accessed 16 October 2014, www.ebeijing.gov.cn/Government/Departments/t912428.htm.

¹⁶ OCAO Office of Shanghai Municipal People's Government, 'Brief Introduction', accessed 16 October 2014, http://qwb.sh.gov.cn/shqb/english/brief/userobject1ai1249.html.

¹⁷ Dina Ionescu, Engaging Diasporas as Development Partners for Home and Destination Countries: Challenges for Policymakers (Geneva: International Organisation for Migration, 2005), https://www.iom.int/jahia/webdav/site/myjahiasite/shared/shared/mainsite/published docs/serial publications/mrs26%20interior.pdf.

Liu Guofu and Du Zejun, *The People's Republic of China—policy and institutional rrameworks,* INTERACT Research Report 2014/19 (Florence: European University Institute, 2014), https://cadmus.eui.eu/handle/1814/32660.

¹⁹ Dovelyn Rannveig Agunias, 'How to Improve Diaspora Engagement', *The Guardian*, 20 February 2013, www.theguardian.com/global-development-professionals-network/2013/feb/20/improving-asian-diaspora-insitutions.

The new act amended the Republic Act 8042 Migrant Workers and Overseas Filipinos Act of 1995.



government agency—the Philippine Overseas Employment Administration (POEA), which operates at the local level under the Public Employment Service Office (PESO).²¹ In contrast to China, the migrant desks are not established in all local government units in the country, but only where PESO branches exist, which largely excludes rural areas.²² The establishment of the migrant desks has been a challenging and highly complex process involving many authorities at different levels. Namely, to set up a migrant desk, the regional director of the Department of Labour and Employment, the central government's Overseas Workers Welfare Administration (OWWA), and POEA sign a memorandum of understanding with a mayor to provide appropriate services for overseas Filipinos through the desk.²³

The Philippine example not only illustrates the complexity of decentralising diaspora engagement, but also indicates the main policy focus of the country's diaspora engagement strategy: emigrants' employment. The migrant desks contribute significantly to Filipino emigrants' labour market integration abroad, and are thus involved in both diaspora engagement and integration.

In contrast to the two preceding examples, India is one of the few countries where the subnational level has direct responsibility not only for the implementation but also for the design of diaspora engagement policy, particularly in those states with large migrant communities abroad. Several states contributed to the development of the national schemes 'Know India' and 'Study India' (launched in 2004 and 2012, respectively), which aim to encourage young diaspora members to visit India. Furthermore, autonomous diaspora authorities have been established in several states with many emigrants abroad. In Kerala the Non-Resident Keralites' Affairs Department was established in 1996 and holds responsibility for both policy direction and implementation. The department designs and implements a vast array of services for Keralite emigrants and stands out as an example of a subnational authority that is active in assisting migrant integration. The Non Resident Indian Department of Andhra Pradesh is another relevant example, notable for its services in assisting emigrants. Both departments develop programmes to raise awareness of illegal recruitment practices, assist in the authentication of educational certificates for those seeking a job abroad, provide predeparture training (e.g., to upgrade skills), provide medical assistance to emigrants abroad, provide legal assistance in cases of marriage or death abroad, and trace missing emigrants.

In sum, the cases of China, the Philippines, and India demonstrate the diversity of approaches to the institutionalisation, prevalence, and capacity of subnational authorities in the area of diaspora engagement. Moreover, while the most prominent activities of subnational authorities in the area of diaspora engagement aim to attract the contribution of diaspora members to local development (in accord with national government policies), others facilitate the economic integration and well-being of migrants at destination.

III. SUBNATIONAL AND LOCAL INSTITUTIONS' INVOLVEMENT IN INTEGRATION ABROAD

Building upon the preceding section's analysis of subnational authorities responsible for diaspora engagement, this section focuses in on cities (municipalities) to shed more light on the various subnational policy areas and efforts relevant to immigrant integration.

As has been stated, subnational and local institutions in origin countries may be involved in the various dimensions of integration either directly or indirectly, depending on the primary aim of the policies and projects that affect the integration trajectories of emigrants abroad. *Direct involvement*, while rare in origin countries, seeks to directly improve the structural integration of migrants in the receiving society, including—among others—a focus on their employment, health care, and political participation.²⁷ *Indirect involvement* involves a policy action that does not name integration as

- 21 The Public Employment Service Offices (PESOs) are linked to the regional offices of the Department of Labor and Employment.
- 22 Nerissa C. Natalicio, 'A Policy Brief on Migrant Desks in Local Government Units (Part 1)', *Tawid News Magasin*, 24 October 2011, http://tawidnewsmag.com/2011/10/a-policy-brief-on-migrant-desks-in-local-government-units-first-part/.
- 23 Philippines Department of Labor and Employment, 'DOLE's OWWA, POEA, and PESO Launch Migrants' Desks in Palayan City, Four Other Nueva Ecija Towns', Regional and Overseas Updates, March 18, 2014, www.dole.gov.ph/ro-polo-updates/view/685.
- 24 According to the India Centre for Migration the three major Indian states of migrant origin are Kerala, Andhra Pradesh, and Punjab.
- 25 Kathryn Lum, 'India's Engagement with its Diaspora in Comparative Perspective with China' (CARIM-INDIA Analytical and Synthetic Note 2012/01, European University Institute, Florence, 2012), www.india-eu-migration.eu/media/CARIM-India-ASN2012-01.pdf.
- 26 Government of Andhra Pradesh, India, 'Department of NRI', accessed 19 September 2014, www.apnri.ap.gov.in/login.do?tr=1423604642786.
- 27 Erik Snel, Godfried Engberse, and Arjen Leerkes, "Transnational Involvement and Social Integration', *Global Networks* 6, no. 3 (2007): 285–308; Marta Bivand Erdal, 'Migrant Transnationalism and Multi-Layered Integration: Norwegian-Pakistani Migrants' Own Reflections', *Journal of Ethnic and*



an objective but yet has symbolic value or an ancillary role in promoting the integration of migrants in their countries of residence. This type of involvement contributes to social and cultural interaction and fosters a sense of belonging, loyalty, and identity. Table 1 summarises the similarities and differences between direct and indirect involvement with respect to areas of focus, the participation of immigrants and officials, goals, and impact.

Table 1. The role of subnational authorities in emigrant integration abroad: direct and indirect involvement

| | Direct involvement | Indirect involvement |
|---|--|--|
| Areas of focus | Structural integration | Sociocultural integration Cultural belonging Identity formation Language training |
| Participation of immigrants Immigrants personally participate in and benefit from programmes | Pretraining courses Job fairs Voting in elections | Celebration of special days and events Cultural exchanges |
| Participation of officials Projects and activities jointly organised by authorities of migrant-sending and migrant-receiving countries | Knowledge sharing among health professionals | Possible Diplomatic visits Knowledge exchanges |
| Identification of goals | Integration clearly stated Integration is initially identified as an expected outcome of projects and activities | Integration not clearly stated Integration might be an unintended consequence of projects and activities |
| Impact | Since integration is identified as a goal, the impact of efforts can be assessed if planned properly Quantitative outcomes (e.g., participation in job training) | The impact of indirect involvement is more difficult to assess Qualitative and subjective outcomes (e.g., mutual understanding, trust) |

A. Examples of direct involvement

In some cases, subnational authorities directly aim to improve the integration and socioeconomic status of migrants abroad. Direct involvement is more likely to occur along certain policy dimensions than others. For instance, there are no examples of subnational interventions in migrants' residential choices and segregation. INTERACT reports have also mentioned the lack of interventions in the fields of social welfare and religion.²⁸ The most prominent examples of direct involvement, meanwhile, target emigrants' labour market integration, political participation, and health care.

Migration Studies 39, no. 6 (2013): 983-99.

Ben Gidley and Maria Luisa Caputo, *Residential Integration: Toward a Sending Country Perspective*, INTERACT Research Report 2013/04 (Florence: European University Institute, 2013), http://interact-project.eu/docs/publications/Research%20Report/INTERACT-RR-2013-04.pdf; Jocelyne Cesari, *Religion and Diasporas: Challenges of the Emigration Countries*, INTERACT Research Report 2 (Florence: European University Institute, 2013), http://interact-project.eu/docs/publications/Research%20Report/INTERACT-RR-2013-01.pdf.



1. Employment

Institutions in origin countries often concentrate their activities on labour market integration as a way of managing emigration flows as well as preventing the illegal recruitment of their nationals. Furthermore, labour migration is a potential source of remittances to the origin country; as such, managing labour migration and protecting labour migrants may be part of a strategy to tap diaspora contributions. Diaspora investments in communities of origin are recognised for their potential to stimulate economic growth through job creation and increased local production.²⁹ In this respect, the incentive for origin countries to support labour market integration abroad is clear—and is reflected in its priority among the relevant activities of subnational authorities.

In the case of the Philippines, the focus of subnational institutions' engagement in immigrant integration is employment. OFW, or migrant, desks are primarily responsible for the dissemination of information on the various aspects of overseas employment; they also seek to support migrants who run into trouble in workplaces abroad.³⁰ These desks provide updated lists of job opportunities and organise job fairs.³¹ The guidelines for conducting job fairs are set by the Department of Labor and Employment, whereas POEA is in charge of issuing licenses to overseas recruitment agencies seeking to participate.³² The migrant desks, which operate within the PESO branches established at the provincial and municipal level, facilitate the job fairs.³³ By hosting and managing job fairs they contribute to the employment of potential overseas workers.³⁴

In India, similarly, state-level initiatives focus on predeparture training. For example, the Non-Resident Keralites' Affairs Department designs and implements a vast array of services to further the labour market integration of Keralite emigrants, including predeparture training and orientation, legal assistance to overseas workers, and insurance schemes for domestic workers and unskilled labourers abroad. The objective of predeparture training is to provide information about the host society and potential jobs to help migrants navigate the destination country's labour market. Moreover, the department protects migrant workers by addressing complaints of abuse and maltreatment from employers and recruiters. The department also works to raise awareness of illegal recruitment.

Other migration-related initiatives at the subnational level are carried out in partnership with international donors. The Skill Development Initiative for Potential Migrants is a pilot project implemented by eight northeast Indian states in partnership with the International Organisation for Migration (IOM).³⁷ The objective of the project is to ready potential emigrants for the international labour market, with a focus on high-demand sectors such as hospitality and health care.

One example of cooperation between local-level institutions in origin and destination countries is a programme that invited citizens of Antalya, Turkey, to intern in geriatric care in Nuremberg, Germany. With the help of Turkish universities, the German municipality sought Turkish nursing staff to deliver services to the elderly within the Turkish immigrant community.³⁸ In 2011 the European Commission hosted the first international conference on German-

- 29 Manuel Orozco, In Search of Policy Options and Solutions: Family Remittances, Diaspora Partnerships and Development Opportunities (Madrid: Fundación Internacional y para Iberoamérica de Administración y Políticas Públicas, 2010).
- 30 Balon Dagupan, 'City Creates BRGY OFW Migrant Desk, First in the Region', 20 November 2014, http://dagupan.gov.ph/2014/11/city-creates-brgy-ofw-migrant-desk-first-in-the-region/.
- 31 International Organisation for Migration (IOM) and Scalabrini Migration Center, Country Migration Report: The Philippines 2013 (Makati City and Quezon City, Philippines: IOM and Scalabrini Migration Center, 2013), www.iom.int/files/live/sites/iom/files/Country/docs/CMReport-Philipines-2013.pdf.
- 32 Philippine Department of Labor and Employment, 'Revised Guidelines for the Conduct of Job Fairs', 2011, www.dole.gov.ph/fndr/bong/files/D0%20 113-11.pdf.
- 33 Republic Act No. 10022, Section 16d. See Congress of the Philippines, Republic Act No. 10022, 14th Congress, 3rd Regular Session, www.poea.gov.ph/ptfair/ra10022.htm.
- 34 Maruja M.B. Asis, Migration and Development in the Philippines: Is Governance the Missing Link? (Quezon City: Scalabrini Migration Centre, 2011).
- 35 Nebiler Metin, Alessandra Venturini, and Ivan Martin, *The Role of Sending Countries in the Labor Market Assimilation of Immigrants in Host Countries*, INTERACT Report 2013/06 (Florence: European University Institute, 2013), http://interact-project.eu/docs/publications/Research%20Report/INTERACT-RR-2013-06.pdf.
- 36 Ibic
- The India Centre for Migration (ICM) is a public institution formerly known as the Indian Council of Overseas Employment (ICOE). It was established by the Ministry of Overseas Indian Affairs (MOIA) in July 2008 to serve as a think tank on all matters relating to international migration. See more at MOIA, 'India Centre for Migration', accessed 12 February 2015, https://moia.gov.in/services.aspx?id1=75&id=m1&idp=75&mainid=73.
- Rat der Gemeinden und Regionen Europas (RGRE), *Deutsch-türkische Städtepartnerschaften: Bestandsaufnahme und Entwicklungsmöglichkeiten*,
 Tagung des Rats der Gemeinden und Regionen Europas Deutsche Sektion und der Heinrich-Böll-Stiftung in Nürnberg (Berlin: Heinrich-Böll-Stiftung, 2011). In a similar case, nursing students from Dösemalti, Antalya, followed the work of a local clinic in Nuremberg and learned about patient care. The clinic's policy on 'culturally sensitive care' emphasises the specific needs of patients with a migration background. According to a staff leader, many patients and members of the clinic's staff have a migration background. The staff leader stated, 'With 24 languages spoken in the clinic, the young people with a Turkish background not only bring their language skills but also their knowledge on the culture. It's a win for our house'. See Klinikum Nürnberg, 'Respekt und gastfreundschaft', 11 September 2012, www.klinikum-nuernberg.de/DE/ueber_uns/Archiv_Neuigkeit-en/2012/20120907_Tuerkische_Pflegeschuelerinnen.html; ISKUR (Employment agency) provides information on job opportunities in Germany:



Turkish city partnerships, where the Antalya-Nuremberg programme was highlighted.³⁹ According to the mayor of Nuremberg, the programme not only enhances the quality of geriatric care in the community but also strengthens ties to Turkish culture.⁴⁰

Box I. Partners across borders: City twinning along the Germany-Turkey corridor

On the German side, the most common reasons for selecting a particular Turkish municipality as a partner involve already existing contacts at the private or political level. Civil society on both sides also plays a role, most often through existing connections. The German town of Karlsruhe, for example, established collaborations with four different Turkish municipalities.

In recent years formal ties between German and Turkish cities and municipalities have been strengthened. In 2011 the German section of the Council of European Municipalities and Regions (RGRE) hosted the first federal-level network conference on German-Turkish municipal partnerships, bringing together representatives from cities across Germany. There are 80 formal partnerships between municipalities in Germany and Turkey, many of them set up during the 1990s. The beginnings of these partnerships vary. Many started as city council initiatives, often set in motion by mayors from the German or Turkish side. Others were established by unions, politically active individuals, or integration commissioners (as in the case of the Eschweiler-Dalaman partnership). Most partnerships were initiated on the German side; notable exceptions include the Düsseldorf-Izmir and Eschweiler-Dalaman partnerships. In the case of Dortmund and Istanbul-Beyoglu, city representatives met as joint participants in the European Culture Capital project in 2010. In the case of Schönebeck and Söke, the Turkish Ministry of Internal Affairs recommended the partnership after a Turkish businessman in Germany addressed the Turkish embassy.

Sources: E-mail correspondence with Albert Stolz, co-author of RGRE Report for Heinrich Boll Stiftung, 26 September 2014; Rat der Gemeinden und Regionen Europas (RGRE), Deutsch-türkische Städtepartnerschaften: Bestandsaufnahme und Entwicklungsmöglichkeiten, Tagung des Rats der Gemeinden und Regionen Europas—Deutsche Sektion und der Heinrich-Böll-Stiftung in Nürnberg (Berlin: Heinrich-Böll-Stiftung, 2011).

An interesting example of a public-private partnership is to be found in Moldova, where cooperation with the private sector alleviates the burden of local authorities providing services to labour migrants (including potential ones) from various municipalities. In Moldova, the subnational and municipal authorities are not involved in the design or implementation of policies related to migration.⁴¹ The novel inclusion of the private sector is being pursued by NEXUS, a project funded by the European Union and the Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation (SDC). The initiative brings together local authorities, national governments, and the private sector (mainly banks). It facilitates cooperation among these actors and supports the development of strategies to service long-term labour migrants, potential migrants, as well as returning migrants. The project began in December 2012 and operates in four pilot areas (the *rayon*⁴² and municipalities of Cahul, Edinet, Ungheni, and Chisinau). Through the project, private institutions offer services such as savings, insurance, and transferable pension plans to current migrants.⁴³ Services offered to potential migrants include the provision of information on visa regimes and employment conditions in popular countries of destination, recruitment services, housing, predeparture language and cross-cultural training, résumé preparation, personal financial planning, financial literacy and training, savings, insurance, pensions, and social networking services.

It is important to note that the Moldovan government initiated decentralisation and public administration reforms only recently, in 2012. As a result, local authorities will receive more competences, and thus must strengthen their capacities to offer more services. Against this backdrop, the national government has pursued projects such as NEXUS to develop new strategies for offering services to migrants at the local level. According to the project representative of NEXUS, 'the real pain gain of migration does not fall on the national level, but at the local level'. In other words, if

see ISKUR.us, 'IŞKUR'dan Almanya'da iş garantili kurs!', accessed 12 February 2015, www.iskur.us/iskur/iskurdan-almanyada-is-garantili-kurs.html.

- 39 Nurnberg Office of International Relations, *Nurnberg Annual Report 2012* (Nurnberg: Office of International Relations, 2012), www.nuernberg.de/imperia/md/partnerstaedte/dokumente/ib/jahresbericht_2012.pdf.
- 40 Hasan Ustun, 'City twinning boosts tourism Antalya and Nurnberg become twin cities,' *Hurriet Daily News*, 13 April 2014, <a href="https://www.hurriyetdailynews.com/city-twinning-boosts-tourism-antalya-and-nurnberg-become-twin-cities.aspx?pageID=438&n=city-twinning-boosts-tourism-antalya-and-nurnberg-become-twin-cities.1997-04-13.
- 41 Interview with Nicolaas de Zwager, project coordinator of NEXUS Moldova, 7 October 2014.
- 42 The *rayon* is a type of subnational administrative unit in Moldova, similar to a city district.
- 43 NEXUS Moldova, Summary, Strengthening the Link between Migration and Development: Testing an Integrated Service Provider to Moldovan Migrants and their Communities (Moldova: International Agency for Source Country Information, 2013).
- 44 State Chancellery of the Republic of Moldova, 'Final Declaration of the International Conference: The Decentralization Reform: from Strategy to Action', November 15, 2012, www.descentralizare.gov.md/libview.php?l=en&idc=249&id=1024.
- 45 Interview with de Zwager.



local authorities do more to support labour migrants than do national bodies, they also expect to reap the most benefits.

As can be observed from the case of Moldova, nonstate partners (such as the Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation for the NEXUS project) are filling the missing gap at the local level in cases where local authorities are limited by legal mandate and inadequate capacity.

The examples considered here clarify that subnational and local authorities cannot intervene in immigrant integration independent of national, external, or nonstate authorities. That being said, their inclusion in a variety of policies and practices in the field of economic integration is critical: local-level connections allow more efficient implementation and better targeting of individuals who may need support.

2. Political Participation

The Platform for Municipal Cooperation between the Netherlands and Morocco (Platform Gemeentelijke Samenwerking Nederland-Marokko), implemented with the Dutch Embassy in Rabat and the Dutch National Committee for International Cooperation and Sustainable Development (NCDO), offers an interesting example of how subnational authorities can encourage emigrants' political participation at destination. Before Dutch local elections in 2006, the platform organised the exchange of 15 mayors, aldermen, and councillors from Morocco and eight Dutch cities with large Moroccan communities. The exchange aimed to demonstrate how local elections are organised in the Netherlands, as well as how citizens of migrant origin can participate.⁴⁶ The Moroccan delegation participated as observers and encouraged individuals of Moroccan origin to vote in local Dutch elections.⁴⁷

Box 2. Partners across borders: City twinning along the Netherlands-Turkey and Netherlands-Morocco corridors

The Netherlands is among the few countries to set up support programmes for municipal international cooperation. The main motivation for Dutch municipalities to link up with local governments in Turkey is directly related to the composition of their populations. Contacts were established with cities in Turkey, Morocco, Ghana, Surinam, Indonesia, and Cape Verde, where many long-term migrants come from. The Netherlands has also allocated a relatively large budget (compared with other countries in the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development [OECD]) to support these objectives. For example, up to 70,000 euros were granted to a municipal partnership per project period by the LOGO programme, financed by the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs. While relevant support programmes (implemented through multilateral and bilateral channels, and by nongovernmental organisations) have focused on governance processes, as well as on democratisation in Morocco and Turkey, key objectives have included cultural exchange and increased contact between authorities. The overarching aim is to communicate with migrant communities in the Netherlands and address their needs more accurately and efficiently.

Sources: Edith Van Ewijk, 'Window on the Netherlands: Mutual Learning in Dutch-Moroccan and Dutch-Turkish Municipal Partnerships', *Tijdschrift voor Economische en Sociale Geografie* 103, no. 1 (2012): 101–09; Edith Van Ewijk, 'Between Local Governments and Communities: Knowledge Exchange and Mutual Learning in Dutch-Moroccan and Dutch-Turkish Municipal Partnerships' (PhD thesis, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, 2013).

There is a dual value in such initiatives. Not only are Moroccan subnational authorities uniquely placed to support emigrants from their specific localities, but their cooperation with partners overseas is important in the bigger picture. Since a shift in diaspora policy in the mid-1990s, the national government of Morocco supports the long-term integration of Moroccan citizens abroad. Local authorities may now participate in interventions in line with this policy perspective. As the permanence of diaspora communities overseas becomes accepted at both national and subnational levels (as it has in Morocco), cooperation between the subnational authorities of origin and destination countries is key.

⁴⁶ AD.nl, 'Marokko: waarnemers naar verkiezingen', AD.nl, 22 February 2006, www.ad.nl/ad/nl/1012/Nederland/article/detail/2313870/2006/02/22/Marokko-waarnemers-naar-verkiezingen.dhtml.

⁴⁷ VNG News Archive, 'Moroccan Observers at Local Elections', 22 February 2006, www.vng.nl/nieuws/06-02-22/marokkaanse-waarnemers-bij-de-gemeenteraadsverkiezingen.



3. Health-care services

Local-level cooperation between origin and destination actors may also help facilitate diaspora members' access to mainstream health services.⁴⁸ Informing emigrants about the health-care services in their country of residence is not enough, however. Considering that integration is a two-way process in which the host society must also adapt to the specific characteristics of newcomers, immigrants' access to health services can be improved through the education of health professionals in multicultural issues. In fact, a former alderman of Labour, Higher Education, Innovation, and Participation of the municipality of Rotterdam states that the 'key is to train everybody involved to do their job in a culturally sensitive manner—be aware of and able to adapt to cultural differences'.⁴⁹

One important example of such an effort seeks to improve the day-to-day work practices of Dutch professionals providing services to migrants from Morocco. Diabetes is a relatively common health problem among Moroccans in the Netherlands. As a result of city-to-city partnerships, professionals working in the health departments of the municipalities of Amsterdam and Meppel received concrete advice on how to reach out to Moroccan immigrants with diabetes. For instance, one Dutch counterpart was advised to use Berber instead of Arabic when necessary, as most individuals in these communities—particularly at risk for diabetes—have a Berber background. Such examples illustrate how local actors specialising in similar fields can exchange knowledge to better support immigrants at destination.

B. Examples of indirect involvement

Subnational and local institutions demonstrate an interest and willingness to assist the integration of migrant communities by involving host countries' local institutions in cultural and diplomatic exchanges. Such cooperation is believed to bolster mutual trust and thus social cohesion.⁵¹ Related activities include the visits of mayors and other officials from origin cities to migrant-receiving countries, media coverage of city partnerships, and the transfer of knowledge about cultural values and other issues relevant to migrants.

1. City partnerships

City partnerships involve a wide range of cultural exchange projects such as art exhibitions, school exchanges, and youth and sports activities.

In the cases of Morocco and Turkey many city-run activities are in the fields of education, culture, and language acquisition. Many collaborations involve youth, as in the case of a hospital garden in Berkane created by youth from Zeist in the Netherlands and Berkane in Morocco.⁵² This project furthered interaction between the youth of the two cities, and gave youth of Moroccan origin in the Netherlands a chance to learn more about Moroccan culture. Many nongovernmental actors, meanwhile, favour exchanges between students in both primary and secondary schools. Successful examples include exchanges between primary schools in Haarlem (the Netherlands) and Emirdag (Turkey), and secondary schools in Meppel (the Netherlands) and Al Hoceima (Morocco).⁵³

In Germany, too, youth both with and without a migration background are encouraged to participate in cultural exchanges to gain a better understanding of migrants' culture of origin. Youth with a migrant background who have never visited their origin country benefit from such experiences as they learn more about their heritage. German representatives from city partnerships cited participants' positive feedback on exchange activities.⁵⁴

⁴⁸ For more on mainstreaming, see Elizabeth Collett and Milica Petrovic, *The Future of Immigrant Integration in Europe: Mainstreaming Approaches for Inclusion* (Brussels: Migration Policy Institute Europe, 2014), www.migrationpolicy.org/research/future-immigrant-integration-europe-mainstreaming-approaches-inclusion.

⁴⁹ INTERACT Project workshop, Barcelona, Spain, 23-24 October 2014.

⁵⁰ Van Ewijk, 'Window on the Netherlands'.

⁵¹ Ibid.

⁵² Ibid.

⁵³ Ibid

⁵⁴ Interview with Walter Kluth, head of the association for the Cologne-Istanbul city partnership, 17 September 2014; interview with Daniel Nevaril, coordinator for the Nuremberg-Antalya partnership, 30 September 2014; interview with Brigitta Strunk, manager of City Partnerships at Berlin Senate Chancellery, 2 October 2014.



Of the many exchanges among local institutes, some are funded through EU instruments. For example, under the Comenius Programme, 55 Turkish teachers were invited to participate and receive training in Moers, Germany. 56 A participant teacher indicated that her presence helped Turkish-origin students improve their Turkish language skills, while students from all backgrounds learned more about Turkish culture. 57

Box 3. Mexican educational exchanges

Mexico offers a significant example of cultural and educational exchanges between migrants' origin and destination countries. The Institute for Mexicans Abroad (Instituto de los Mexicanos en el Exterior, IME), created in 2003, offers programmes for Mexicans living abroad. Binational Teacher Exchange Programme agreements, which seek to meet teaching needs in U.S. schools, are signed with the federal Mexican Secretariat of Public Education and the U.S. Department of Education or local school districts. Another significant programme, Plaza Communitarias, offers adult courses in Spanish literacy and writing, elementary and middle school education, computer literacy, and English as a second language. These courses enhance Mexican migrants' opportunities to interact with American society. Considering that these programmes take place in the United States, and involve teachers from various backgrounds, they are exemplary in terms of providing an opportunity for social integration as well as cultural exchange.

An important component of the Advisory Council (Consejo Consultivo), which governs IME, is the 156 counsellors (consejeros) who represent the Mexican community. These counsellors are a key link between local and national institutions in Mexico, and with Mexican communities abroad, especially in the United States. Counsellors work to share information on Mexican programmes, seminars, and training opportunities and to provide feedback to Mexican authorities to enhance their understanding of the needs of Mexican communities abroad.

Sources: Laureen Laglagaron, Protection through Integration: The Mexican Government's Efforts to Aid Migrants in the United States (Washington, DC: Migration Policy Institute, 2010), https://www.migrationpolicy.org/research/protection-through-integration-mexican-governments-efforts-aid-migrants-united-states; Alexandra Délano, 'Immigrant Integration vs. Transnational Ties? The Role of the Sending State', Social Research: An International Quarterly 77, no. 1 (2010): 237–68.

By participating in exchanges between origin and destination cities, host-society members learn more about the culture of immigrant communities and gain a more positive outlook on diversity.

According to the local officials involved in the German side of exchange programmes, integration is consistently a goal, even if not explicitly addressed.⁵⁸ One official stressed the importance of information sharing among the nativeborn German population: 'Germans know Turkish people as their neighbours and they can be indifferent to them. However, once they participate in a cultural event hosted in the city or return from an exchange visit they are suddenly more interested in their culture'.⁵⁹ The main objective of the Gladbeck-Alanya partnership, for example, is intercultural understanding, which can in turn aid integration processes.⁵⁰

In particular, the partnerships raised awareness among Germans, allowing them to understand the origins of new members of the society in a different light. They came to realise that individuals residing in the origin country are often likely to be more modernised than those who have migrated abroad. In a phenomenon seen in immigrant communities the world over, migrant workers from rural areas are often more conservative than large portions of their origin country's population. The participation of contemporary residents of Turkey in exchange programs thus sheds new light on Turkish culture for all participants on the German side. Local authorities in receiving countries, meanwhile, learn more about how to address diversity-related issues. Consider the 'Arm-in-Arm' project, a one-year partnership between the city of Denizli in Turkey and Almelo in the Netherlands that took place in 2006. Three pilot schools participated in the project, meant to encourage parents to get more involved in their children's education. As stated by Otto Snel, the head of the committee representing the city of Almelo, participating in this programme and visiting Turkish schools helped Dutch participants compare the education systems of Turkey and Holland, and gain a

⁵⁵ The Comenius Programme is part of the EU Lifelong Learning Programme. The programme seeks to develop knowledge and understanding among young people and educational staff on the diversity of European cultures, languages, and values. It helps young people acquire the basic life skills and competences necessary for their personal development, for future employment, and for active citizenship. See European Commission, 'Comenius Programme', updated 5 September 2014, http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/llp/comenius/comenius_en.php.

⁵⁶ The *Nokta* newspaper discusses the Comenius Programme, see *Nokta*, 'Okullar arası dostluk köprüleri', *Nokta Gazetesi*, 26 December 2010, https://noktagazetesi.wordpress.com/2010/12/26/okullar-arasi-dostluk-kopruleri/#more-210.

⁵⁷ Interview with participant in Comenius Programme, 17 October 2014.

⁵⁸ Interview with Nevaril, coordinator for the Nuremberg-Antalya partnership.

⁵⁹ Ibid

⁶⁰ RGRE, Deutsch-türkische Städtepartnerschaften, 10.

⁶¹ Ibid.



new vision for better aligning the education systems of these two countries. ⁶² They also learned ways to better address the needs of youth from various cultural backgrounds.

In another city-to-city education exchange, as a result of cooperation with the Turkish city of Gaziantep, participants from the Dutch municipality of Deventer identified cultural differences in communication styles that helped them improve outreach to the immigrant parents of primary school pupils. The Turkish partners pointed to the Dutch delegation's approach to announcing school meetings as too lenient, and suggested that they emphasise the compulsory aspect of parental involvement in education in the Netherlands. They warned that if this was not communicated clearly to migrant parents, such parents might misperceive the significance of these meetings and not attend unless their children faced significant problems in school.⁶³ This is a clear example of how knowledge exchange among relevant local authorities can help the host society adjust to the diverse needs of specific migrant groups.

In a final example from a city partnership, a police officer from the Dutch municipality of Meppel noted that through his visits to Al Hoceima, he learned more about Moroccan people's attitudes and behaviour. He discovered how active women are in civic life in Morocco; this observation encouraged him to do more to support the civic participation of Moroccan women of migrant origin in Meppel. It is important to mention here that Moroccans are underrepresented in the Dutch police force. As a consequence, police officers may not gain organic exposure to Moroccan culture, a gap that may be filled by international partnerships at the local level.

In sum, the transfer of knowledge about cultural norms that occurs through official partnerships may go far toward enhancing immigrants' participation in the host society and communication with city officials. Even where programmes do not state integration as a goal, cooperation at the local level may help those delivering mainstream public services in the host country (health-care providers, police, etc.) better understand and serve immigrant communities.

The transfer of knowledge about cultural norms that occurs through official partnerships may go far toward enhancing immigrants' participation in the host society.

2. Cultural diplomacy

Cultural diplomacy plays an important role in international cooperation among local authorities. Before closing this discussion of indirect involvement, it is crucial to discuss the significance of cultural diplomacy between local actors. In Turkey, for example, official documents reveal that the country has been in the process of restructuring its foreign policy, including steps to expand the foreign policy instruments at its disposal and acquire new tools in such fields as public and cultural diplomacy. Numerous visits are organised every year between mayors and high-level administrators. These visits may also include community religious leaders. As a result of the partnership between Bursa and Hessen, Germany, for example, the mufti of Bursa and representatives of the Protestant Church of Hessen met during a Turkish-German cultural introduction and education trip. The mayor of Bursa points to such meetings as of extreme importance in bringing together the two cultures and fighting against prejudice. Diplomatic actions also translate into symbolic gestures between cities. For example, as a result of the cooperation between Vienne (France) and Emirdag (Turkey), a street in Vienne is named after its sister city. Such gestures of goodwill are especially important in cities linked by migration. News of them, disseminated in local newspapers and other media, boosts migrants' trust that local authorities welcome their presence.

⁶² The city of Denizli and its international partnerships; Denizli, 'Denizli ve Almelo`dan Kolkola Projesi', 11 June 2007, www.denizli.bel.tr/Default.aspx?k=haber-detay&id=9773.

⁶³ Van Ewijk, 'Between Local Governments and Communities'.

⁶⁴ Ibid

Kemal Yurtnaç, 'Turkey's New Horizon: Turks Abroad and Related Communities' (SAM Papers No. 3, Center for Strategic Research, Turkey, 2012), http://sam.gov.tr/wp-content/uploads/2012/10/SAM_paper_ing_03.pdf.

⁶⁶ Haber7, 'Alman papazlardan Bursa'ya eğitim gezisi', Haber7, 23 October 2013, www.haber7.com/guncel/haber/1087020-alman-papazlardan-bursaya-egitim-gezisi.

⁶⁷ The official Emirdag culture and news website provides information on the partnership between Vienne and Emirdag; Emirdag, 'Köy Camisine Sinevizyon Kurdular', accessed 15 February 2015, www.emirdag.com.tr/d/index.php/component/content/archive?year=2010&month=6.

⁶⁸ Examples of media dissemination on city-to-city partnerships in the Turkish media include: Medihaber, 'Dilovası, Macar Szentgotthárd Belediyesi ile kardeş şehir protokolü imzaladı', 5 August 2014, https://www.medihaber.net/2014/08/05/dilovasi-macar-szentgotthard-belediyesi-ile-kardes-sehir-protokolu-imzaladi/#sthash.tQeyPrP3.dpuf; Zaman, "Kardeş şehirler' ile uzaklar yakın oluyor', 19 October 2010, https://www.zaman.com.tr/gundem_kardes-sehirler-ile-uzaklar-yakin-oluyor_1042121.html.



The celebration of cultural heritage days in destination countries offers yet another opportunity to invite local officials and civil society organisations from migrant-origin countries to cities throughout Europe. For example, in 2011, Turkey celebrated its 50th year of migration to many European countries. Such commemorations provide yet another channel to promote cultural understanding among various nationalities and ethnic groups.

IV. CHALLENGES TO LOCAL AUTHORITIES' IN-Volvement in immigrant integration

While numerous examples of both direct and indirect involvement in integration exist at the local level, such activities are limited by various challenges. The involvement of subnational and local authorities seems to be the exception rather than the rule, and their role could be enhanced significantly—with promising results. This section highlights the issues that hamper subnational authorities from playing a larger role in the governance of immigrant integration. It first looks at various challenges faced by local authorities in origin countries, before summarizing those experienced at destination.

A. Constraints in the origin countries

1. Centralisation and constraints on local authority and funding

Centralised decisionmaking is the main culprit for the limited involvement of subnational authorities from origin countries. The competences of subnational institutions, in particular at the local level, remain limited in many migrant-sending countries. In countries where control is more centralised than less, a lack of autonomy at the subnational level magnifies any existing financial constraints. Subnational authorities are hindered from adding migration-related initiatives to an already strained budget.

Centralised decisionmaking is the main culprit for the limited involvement of subnational authorities from origin countries.

In Morocco, new provisions of the Municipal Charter of 2002 furthered the nation's decentralisation process, with a focus on local human development (such as access to basic services). But difficulties remain, such as in transferring responsibilities from the central government to local authorities. Amid fiscal constraints and a general resistance to change, competences are not clearly defined and much overlap remains. These are considerable obstacles to the engagement of local authorities with migrants abroad. Decentralisation processes are generally very complex and involve multiple delays in operationalizing new competences at the local level. A lack of capacity at the local level (e.g., for tax collection, service provision) often serves as a rationale for central authorities to legally devolve authority while resisting actual fiscal decentralisation. In Morocco, for example, research in the city of Berkane indicates that no funds are allocated for international exchange at the municipal level. The budget is centralised at the national level, limiting the decision-making role of the city. Description of the city.

In Turkey, current legislation indicates that the decentralisation process is proceeding apace.⁷¹ The responsibilities and powers of local authorities have expanded, while the central government's oversight has diminished considerably.

⁶⁹ Global Networks of Cities, Local, and Regional Governments, 'UCLG Country Profiles: Morocco', www.cities-localgovernments.org/gold/Upload/country-profile/Morocco.pdf.

⁷⁰ Van Ewijk, 'Between Local Governments and Communities'.

⁷¹ Ulas Bayraktar and Élise Massicard, *Decentralization in Turkey*, Focales 07 (Paris: Agence Française de Développement, 2012); Council of European Municipalities and Regions (CEMR), *Decentralisation at a Crossroads: Territorial Reforms in Europe in Times of Crisis* (Brussels: CEMR, 2013), www.ccre.org/img/uploads/piecesjointe/filename/CCRE_broch_EN_complete_low.pdf.



New laws have transferred new responsibilities and powers to local authorities, especially in the fields of health, education, and natural and cultural heritage. Yet the conclusion of international partnerships is still conditional on the approval of the Turkish Ministry of Internal Affairs, and the financial resources for such activities are also centrally assigned.⁷² Turkish municipalities, meanwhile, still have rather limited mandates.

Box 4. Decentralisation remains a challenge in various INTERACT priority countries of origin

The case of Lebanon reveals another facet of local governance. Namely, local authorities' ability to execute their competences is conditional on political context. Amid a formal local democracy and ongoing national debates on decentralisation, in practice problems persist, including a lack of capacity to provide services, and political turmoil. As a result, municipalities remain weak.

In the case of Tunisia, for instance, regional governors and local administrators are appointed by the central government and do not have autonomy in decisionmaking. Although mayors and municipal councils are elected, they remain highly dependent on the central government. Even though local institutions appear to be independent structures, they act only on behalf of the central state and by means of its resources. Meanwhile, even if a wider range of responsibilities is assigned to local authorities on paper, little can be done without adequate resources (in the absence of local taxation and proper capacity to mobilise resources).

In the Philippines, decentralisation is viewed as an important element of democratisation. Since the adoption of the Local Government Code in 1992, significant functions—including basic service provision—have been transferred to lower tiers of government. The administrative structure is fairly complex and encompasses local government units at the level of provinces, independent and component cities, ⁷³ municipalities, and *barangay*. ⁷⁴ As competences have been devolved, the powers of local units to collect taxes have expanded. Such changes improve the capacity of subnational authorities along with their competence.

In the midst of this positive picture, corruption is a major problem that bedevils both national and local governments and constrains local authorities' support of integration. Filipino overseas workers have appealed to the Philippines government to audit the work of the Overseas Workers Welfare Administration and Philippine Overseas Employment Administration (POEA) and get rid of corrupt officials exploiting overseas workers.⁷⁵

In sum, local authorities' overall lack of competence presents a significant hurdle to their engagement in international cooperation and—ultimately—communication with migrant communities abroad. While decentralisation efforts are under way in several migrant-origin countries, changes have been slow. Local capacity must be enhanced to allow local authorities to actively engage in designing—not just implementing—policies related to migration.

2. Dominance of national institutions in diaspora engagement

Migrant-origin cities do not necessarily prioritise improving relations with migrants abroad, especially where the national level dominates diaspora engagement. This is clear in the cases of Turkey and the Philippines, where local authorities can only implement nationally designed policies on migration.

⁷² RGRE, Deutsch-türkische Städtepartnerschaften.

⁷³ Independent cities are highly urbanised and are not under the jurisdiction of provinces, whereas component cities are part of a larger province.

⁷⁴ The barangay is the smallest political unit into which cities and municipalities in the Philippines are divided. It is the basic unit of the Philippine political system; see Philippine Statistics Authority, 'Concepts and Definitions', accessed 14 September 2014, www.nscb.gov.ph/activestats/psgc/articles/con_lgu.asp.

⁷⁵ Pinoy-OFW, OFW Group Calls for Audit of POEA and OWWA, 8 September 2014, www.pinoy-ofw.com/news/.



Research on diaspora engagement policies at the national level in Turkey and Morocco indicate a change in political attitudes toward emigrants over the years. A focus on emigrants' return has been supplanted by acceptance of substantial, permanent diaspora communities abroad. Today, both countries prioritise supporting the socioeconomic and cultural well-being of emigrants, and actively encourage links to their countries of origin. Such policies are believed to increase migrants' willingness and capacity to contribute to the socioeconomic development of the origin country in the long run.

In Turkey, the Presidency for Turks Abroad and Related Communities, founded as a public institution under the Prime Ministry, has the strongest say in developing and maintaining relationships with the diaspora. The predominant role of this national-level institution seems to be bolstered by citizens abroad, who are less likely to approach local-level authorities.⁷⁷

Meanwhile, the national bodies in charge of migration issues often do little to communicate with local authorities. For instance, the Presidency for Turks Abroad and Related Communities focuses on partnering with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Directorate of Religious Affairs, the Turkish International Cooperation and Coordination Agency (TİKA), the Council of Higher Education (YÖK), the Yunus Emre Institute, and the Public Diplomacy Office. Interviews with local officials also reveal a lack of communication between the presidency and foreign affairs departments of cities.

Meanwhile, it is important to note that the success of origin countries' interventions to support integration, be they national or subnational, depends on the level of trust between origin-country authorities and emigrant communities overseas. For example, experts from the city of Barcelona⁸⁰ indicate that members of the Moroccan and Pakistani communities in that city do not always choose to cooperate with authorities in their home country. Emigrants who, at origin, would find themselves in a minority or in opposition to the government party may be unwilling to cooperate with the authorities of their origin countries, even when the objective of such cooperation is to their benefit. If and when subnational authorities seek to collaborate in integration-related matters, they must first build trust and gain acceptance in emigrant communities.

3. Competing local priorities and challenges to sustainable cooperation

Constrained by limited competence and financial resources, local authorities often find it difficult to balance competing demands for public services. In Turkey major metropolitan cities have foreign affairs departments involved in projects related to EU membership. Most such departments were established starting in 2005, when negotiations for accession to the European Union gathered speed. Meanwhile, EU funds were provided to help municipalities strengthen relations with European cities.⁸¹ Interestingly, few initiatives have addressed emigrants living in Europe.

Interviewees from origin countries state financial constraints as a key reason why little attention is paid to migrant issues.

Interviewees from origin countries state financial constraints as a key reason why little attention is paid to migrant issues; local authorities must prioritise domestic issues, such as local service provision, over international cooperation. According to an expert in foreign affairs at the Turkish Union of Municipalities, municipalities do not see cooperation with migrant-receiving cities as a priority. And there is little evidence to suggest that such relationships are sustainable. Few active partnerships address migrants living abroad. An official from the municipality of Izmir revealed in an interview that more than targeting Turkish migrants living abroad, the city hoped to promote tourism

⁷⁶ Özge Bilgili and Silja Weyel, 'Diaspora Engagement in Morocco: Understanding the Implications of a Changing Perspective on Capacity and Practices' (Migration Policy Brief No. 10, Maastricht Graduate School of Governance, Maastricht, 2012), https://unu.edu/publications/policy-briefs/diaspora-engagement-in-morocco-understanding-the-implications-of-a-changing-perspective-on-capacity-and-practices.html.

⁷⁷ Interview with an official working in the foreign relations department of the municipality of Izmir, Turkey, 7 October 2014.

⁷⁸ Yurtnaç, 'Turkey's New Horizon'.

⁷⁹ Interview with an official from the municipality of Antalya, Turkey, 9 September 2014.

⁸⁰ INTERACT Project workshop, Barcelona, Spain, 23-24 October 2014.

⁸¹ Kocaeli, 'AB ve Dis İliskiler sube Mudurlugu Tarihcesi', 7 December 2012, http://kocaeli.bel.tr/icerik/ab-ve-dis-iliskiler-sube-mudurlugu-tarihcesi/2674/26787.aspx.

⁸² Interviews with officials in the Municipality of Izmir, 7 October 2014, and Municipality of Emirdag, 8 October 2014.

⁸³ Interview at the Turkish Union of Municipalities, 7 October 2014.



through various cultural activities.84

Long-term partnerships are also difficult amid shifts in the political landscape. In the case of Antalya, the composition of the municipal department in charge of city partnerships with international partners completely changed after the March 2014 elections. In an interview, the Vice President of the municipality of Emirdag pointed to a need for newly appointed officials to take over their predecessors' focus on cooperation. The leadership of mayors is important in this respect; city-to-city partnerships may stagnate when a newly appointed mayor is not eager to prioritise a particular initiative.

B. Constraints posed at destination

1. Multiple, misaligned actors, and financial constraints

Subnational authorities in origin countries cannot succeed in contributing to the integration of emigrants without the participation and partnership of authorities in destination countries. Strong cooperation between authorities at origin and destination is a core element of successful direct involvement. Thus, the potential and challenges of origin countries' role in integration cannot be completely understood without looking at the context of the destination country.

In Europe integration policies that address the livelihoods of migrants represent a significant development of the past couple decades; the topic of labour market integration is covered by a large number of institutions. In Germany there is a clear division between subnational institutions that are directly involved in immigrant integration and those that indirectly address the issue. On one side are state institutions such as the regional-level Council for Integration (Landesintegrationsrat) or the State Advisory Board for Integration and Migration (Landesbeirat für Integrations-und Migrationsfragen) and integration councils at the city level, also found under the title Advisory Board for Foreigners (Ausländerbeirat). In addition, each city may adopt its own official integration policy. Local foreign policy and city partnerships fall within the portfolio of the local authority's international relations department and are thus separate from the institutions in charge of integration. The involvement of various authorities in integration presents a hurdle to linking initiatives undertaken by city partnerships with broader local policies on immigrant integration, led by the integration councils. In this respect, it is important to improve coordination among the various relevant authorities to increase the effectiveness of subnational authorities.

Furthermore, recognising the importance of international cooperation on matters of integration requires a link with the foreign affairs portfolio, which is often disconnected from the integration portfolio. In 2014 Austria merged the integration portfolio with a restructured Federal Ministry for Europe, Integration, and Foreign Affairs. The government's new approach highlights the 'multi-faceted synergies existing between integration work in Austria itself and the realm of international affairs'. The merged portfolio sets out the goal of providing integration initiatives that involve countries of origin and promote measures—both at origin and destination—to prepare migrants for their lives in Austria.

Compared with migrant-sending countries, decentralisation is more advanced in many migrant-receiving European countries. For instance, local governments in the Netherlands have a significantly broad mandate and financial resources to develop their own policies for engaging with various partners within their locality. However, considering that part of the financial resources allocated to local governments is assigned by the central government, the decision-making power of local governments in how to distribute funds is limited. To cooperate with Turkey, Dutch municipalities could draw on the LOGO East programme, and to cooperate with Morocco several municipalities made use of

⁸⁴ Interview at Municipality of Izmir.

⁸⁵ Interview with Nevaril, coordinator for the Nuremberg-Antalya partnership, 30 September 2014.

⁸⁶ Interview with the Vice President of Emirdag, 8 October 2014.

⁸⁷ Republic of Austria, Federal Ministry for Europe, Integration and Foreign Affairs website, 'Integration in Austria', accessed 12 September 2014, www.bmeia.gv.at/en/integration/.

⁸⁸ Rudy Andeweg and Galen Irwin, Governance and Politics of the Netherlands (Houndsmills, Basingstoke, Hampshire, and New York: Palgrave, 2002).

Between 2005 and 2010, the LOGO East programme, implemented by VNG International and financed by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Netherlands, supported the partnerships between Turkey and the Netherlands. The programme sought to improve existing city partnerships as well as build new ones. Up to 70,000 euros could be granted per municipal partnership per project period. See Edith Van Ewijk and Isa Baud, 'Partnerships between Dutch Municipalities and Municipalities in Countries of Migration to the Netherlands: Knowledge Exchange and Mutuality', Habitat International 33, no. 2 (2009): 218–26.



the MATRA programme, ⁹⁰ both funded by the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs. ⁹¹ However, these programmes were discontinued amid the global economic crisis. Subsequent budget cuts made it difficult to sustain the relationships built over the course of years. As noted by an official in the city of Barcelona, 'hundreds of daily problems' leave authorities needing to prioritise the most urgent. In this context, it is difficult to focus on international cooperation.

European funds can supplement central funding to local authorities in the areas of migrant integration and international cooperation. The European Fund for the Integration of Third-Country Nationals—otherwise known as the Integration Fund—has served as a building block for collaboration between EU Member States and migrant-origin countries, particularly in areas such as predeparture preparation and introduction to the host society. For example, the Diversity in the Economy and Local Integration Project, cofunded by the Integration Fund, supports migrant entrepreneurship. The newly introduced Asylum, Migration and Integration Fund, mandated for the period 2014-20, benefits local public bodies. These structures should be utilised by all stakeholders to serve the interests of migrant communities and support their well-being.

2. Political and human-rights context

A multiplicity of actors at the subnational level—and their limited competence and budget for international relations, even in wealthy migrant-receiving countries—is not the only obstacle to cooperation with countries of migrant origin. It is also important to consider the political context and atmosphere. The definition of integration has become increasingly narrow in Europe, and migrants' continued links with origin countries are often discouraged in this context. Notwithstanding the formal attention paid to predeparture activities in origin countries, which are expected to help integration at destination, some receiving countries are clearly distancing themselves from the model of the multicultural society. For example, in the Netherlands integration is increasingly defined by compliance with so-called Dutch values. In such a context, immigrants are expected to detach themselves from their origin, while their integration is addressed within the boundaries of the host nation-state.

Cooperation flounders when not supported by the central agenda—and, in the case of cities, by individual officials. Compared with Cologne and Nuremberg, whose mayors focused on partnerships with Turkey to further the interests of Turkish migrant communities, the political leadership of Berlin has shown less interest in forging similar partnerships.⁹⁶

Cultural differences between destination and origin countries may influence such decisions. Amid media reports of discrimination against the lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT) community in Turkey, the Berlin mayor has distanced himself from an existing link with Istanbul. Human-rights issues thus directly impact international cooperation at the subnational level. According to city officials in Berlin, political developments in the origin country significantly impact cooperation; Turkish officials, meanwhile, are more reserved about discussing issues related to human rights and citizen engagement.⁹⁷ Issues such as these require a diplomatic approach that helps maintain partnerships, while advancing important discussions to the next level.⁹⁸

3. Cost-benefit analysis and impact assessment

Some officials in destination countries complain that the investment made to cooperate with origin cities—in terms

- 90 MATRA stands for 'societal transformation' (an abbreviation of the Dutch terms Maatschappelijke TrAnsformatie). The program was initiated in 1994 by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs. In 2006 the MATRA programme included all countries around the Mediterranean. A special focus of the MATRA programme was youth participation and good governance in Morocco. See Van Ewijk and Baud, 'Partnerships between Dutch Municipalities and Municipalities'.
- 91 In addition, support for Dutch-Moroccan partnerships is part of the EU policy on promoting stability in 'Europe's new neighbouring countries'.
- 92 European Commission, 'Integration Fund—Transnational Actions', last updated 20 June 2014, http://ec.europa.eu/dgs/home-affairs/financing/fundings/migration-asylum-borders/integration-fund/transnational-actions/index_en.htm.
- For more on the Diversity in the Economy and Local Integration Project, Cofunded by the Council of Europe and the European Integration Fund, see European Union, 'Diversity in the Economy and Local Integration (DELI)', accessed 12 February 2015, https://pip-eu.coe.int/en/web/deli.
- 94 European Commission, 'Asylum, Migration, and Integration Fund', last updated 23 December 2014, http://ec.europa.eu/dgs/home-affairs/financing/fundings/migration-asylum-borders/asylum-migration-integration-fund/index_en.htm.
- 95 Government of the Netherlands, 'Integration policy based on Dutch values', (news release, 17 June 2011), www.government.nl/documents-and-publications/press-releases/2011/06/17/integration-policy-based-on-dutch-values.html.
- 96 The Berlin mayor has not conducted any official visits to Istanbul during the mandate of 2011 and 2014. Interview with Strunk.
- 97 Interview with Strunk.
- 98 Interview with Strunk.



of time, money, and human resources—does not necessarily pay off. An official from Barcelona argued that, amid differences in approach and resources, it is often difficult to work together with migrant-origin cities.⁹⁹ This point was also recognised by a representative of the Turkish Union of Municipalities.¹⁰⁰ According to these sources, city partnerships between migrant-sending and migrant-receiving cities are challenged by differences in the policy agenda and in resource levels. Most Turkish emigrants originate from rural areas and small towns then settle in larger migrant-receiving cities. A town with a population of about 40,000 people and a large metropolis such as Berlin function in very different ways, making it difficult to sustain any relations established.

Meanwhile, it remains a challenge to prove the efficacy and impact of subnational authorities' involvement in immigrant integration. According to the Berlin Integration Council, city partnerships are most often limited to cultural trips and exchange visits and as such do not necessarily improve the lives of migrants. However, it is important to note that these remarks are subjective and not based on evidence. Few evaluations of the impact of subnational and local authorities' involvement in immigrant integration exist, perhaps because gauging it is highly complex and difficult. It is especially difficult to assess the impact of indirect involvement. Considering the high importance accorded to evidence-based policymaking, more investment can be made in the monitoring of policies and programmes in this area. For example, the effectiveness of Moroccan authorities' efforts to encourage emigrants to participate in local Dutch elections in 2006 could have been followed more systematically and better assessed.

V. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The subnational authorities of origin countries are relevant to the governance of immigrant integration in host countries. Examples of direct subnational support of emigrants' employment, health care, and political participation indicate such authorities' potential to further emigrant integration. Moreover, some level of communication exists between many local authorities at origin and at destination, especially at the city level. In fact, many migrant-sending and receiving cities, especially those linked by chain migration, are in partnerships that provide a useful platform for collaboration and participation in joint activities.

However, significant obstacles hamper the potential contribution of subnational entities. In origin countries the capacity of local government administrations to address international cooperation is most often limited by a lack of legal competence. Local responsibilities in origin countries rarely include foreign policy, putting precise bounds on any possibility for international action. Recent moves to decentralise authority (for example, in Turkey) have focused on building local capacity to deliver services and handle local community issues. Local authorities in origin countries are, by and large, excluded from policy design, and their potential to understand migrants' interests and reach out to emigrants is overshadowed by national policy priorities.

Examples of direct subnational support of emigrants' employment, health care, and political participation indicate such authorities' potential to further emigrant integration.

Subnational actors in origin countries are also constrained by a lack of financial resources. Most city partnerships derive from the local and in-kind contributions from participating members,¹⁰² or are covered by particular donor-supported projects. A lack of political will to address issues of migrant integration abroad is underpinned by the size of local budgets. In countries where subnational institutions remain financially dependent on national budget allocations, it is unlikely that adequate resources will be allocated to international cooperation. Where local authorities are given responsibility to look after the interests of emigrants abroad, their actions are commonly limited to diaspora engagement—most often attempts to attract the investments of labour migrants to help local development at origin.

From the perspective of destination countries, international cooperation with the subnational authorities of origin countries is not necessarily a priority. Local authorities must balance a myriad core tasks under often tight financial

⁹⁹ INTERACT project workshop, Barcelona, Spain, 23-24 October 2014.

¹⁰⁰ Interview with representative of Turkish Union of Municipalities, 8 October 2014.

¹⁰¹ Interview with Pohl, 23 September 2014.

¹⁰² Some city partnership activities do not receive official funding from the subnational authority (municipality or city administration) and thus rely on contributions from the organisations or associations represented in the partnership. The costs of visits under the Cologne-Istanbul partnership were covered by the cities' representatives themselves; interview with Kluth.



constraints, without much political and policy support to consolidate international partnerships.

Lack of coordination among organisations from both sending and receiving countries is an additional impediment to effective integration policy. This gap is widened by a lack of communication across governmental levels. For example, activities undertaken by local partners from Turkey and Germany may not have strong links with the work of the integration councils at Germany's local level. As stated by a local official, 'in Berlin, we have 130,000 citizen[s] of Turkish origin; it's a very large community and we could use the Berlin-Istanbul partnership much more to benefit them'.¹⁰³

The role of origin countries' subnational authorities in supporting the governance of immigrant integration needs to be discussed within the broader debate on integration. It is to be argued that strengthening migrants' links to their home country aids their integration at destination.¹⁰⁴ Support from subnational authorities can help migrants gain visibility and foster mutual understanding.¹⁰⁵ In addition, subnational authorities can react more quickly to conditions on the ground. Smaller institutions are comparatively more flexible than national ones, and may be able to quickly develop programmes and activities that meet the needs of emigrants—and official partners at destination—as they arise.

Building upon existing city partnerships is pivotal. Despite being limited in their freedom to design new policies, local institutions in origin countries are often allowed to enter international cooperation through formal partnerships. This provides an important channel for reaching migrant communities abroad. Even when activities do not specifically aim to promote integration, it is important to recognise their potential positive impact on the lives of emigrants. Knowledge transfer and mutual understanding are more likely to occur when their value is recognised.¹⁰⁶

Building upon existing city partnerships is pivotal.

Other actors also have a part to play in promoting integration. Nongovernmental associations both in origin and destination countries can serve as a necessary link. Local authorities in origin cities must utilise such links to reach out to emigrants. Moreover, further coordination between integration councils and the international relations departments in origin cities would help streamline initiatives. The case of the NEXUS project in Moldova illustrates what strong cooperation can achieve. The project brings together authorities from both national and local levels together with actors from civil society and the private sector to develop new mechanisms of communicating with current and potential emigrants. Without the involvement of the private sector, immigrant associations, and other nongovernmental organisations (NGOs), it is very difficult to maintain initiatives in the long term.¹⁰⁷

For the success of partnerships between subnational authorities at origin and destination, it is extremely important that the two sides be seen as equal partners. When exchange is mutual, both sides become more receptive. This is relevant to the advice given in the city partnerships' handbook¹⁰⁸ of Turkey: it is best if municipalities cooperate with others of similar capacity and size.

When representatives of origin communities are involved in projects to bolster migrants' well-being at destination, the projects are more successful. Migrants and migrant organisations are best included in any relevant partnerships, which stand to benefit from these actors' existing transnational links and networks. Migrants can also facilitate transnational exchanges: they are important sources of knowledge, and can successfully bring together the right partners for cooperation. They also serve as transnational links themselves. A representative of the municipality of Emirdag, for instance, notes that the city has a strong connection with the municipality of Saint-Josse-ten-Noode in Belgium: the current mayor, Emir Kir, is a Turkish immigrant from Emirdag.

The suggestions and examples provided in this report indicate ways that subnational authorities can successfully participate in the governance of immigrant integration. To aid evidence-based policy design, the relevant activities and interventions of authorities need to be systematically monitored and evaluated. A comprehensive evaluation of rele-

¹⁰³ Interview with Strunk.

¹⁰⁴ Margit Fauser, 'Co-development as Transnational Governance: An Analysis of the Engagement of Local Authorities and Migrant Organizations in Madrid', *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 40, no.7 (2013): 1060–78.

¹⁰⁵ Elena Sánchez-Montijano, Immigrant Transnational Governance of the Sub-State Authorities: The Case of Catalonia, forthcoming.

¹⁰⁶ Edith Van Ewijk, Het stopt niet bij de Gemeentegrens—Samenwerking met Gemeenten in Herkomstlanden, Conference Report (Mammoni, Utrecht, 2009)

¹⁰⁷ Sánchez-Montijano, Immigrant Transnational Governance of the Sub-State Authorities.

¹⁰⁸ Turkiye Belediyeler Birligi (Union of Municipalities of Turkey), 'Kardes sehirler: Uluslararasi belediye isbirlikleri ve birligimizin rolu', accessed 27 October 2014, www.tbb.gov.tr.



vant activities, both during their implementation and after their completion, will go far toward informing policymakers about the potential role of subnational authorities in fostering migrants' integration.

Finally, it is of great importance that local authorities at both origin and destination cooperate with EU-level institutions. Building on local authorities' existing responsibilities for migrant integration in Member States, the European Union could support deeper collaboration between these states and migrant-origin countries. According to city officials in Rotterdam, an effective way for migrant-receiving cities to improve integration measures for migrants is to communicate with—and learn from—other migrant-receiving cities in European countries. This points to the value of EU-level platforms for knowledge sharing and communication—one that can only be increased by the knowledge of subnational authorities in origin countries. Networks of international collaborators may provide a first pathway for exploring the potential contribution of subnational authorities to integration governance.



WORKS CITED

- AD.nl. 2006. Marokko: waarnemers naar verkiezingen, 22 February 2006. www.ad.nl/ad/nl/1012/Nederland/article/detail/2313870/2006/02/22/Marokko-waarnemers-naar-verkiezingen.dhtml.
- Agunias, Dovelyn Rannveig. 2013. How to Improve Diaspora Engagement. *The Guardian*, 20 February 2013. www.theguardian.com/global-development-professionals-network/2013/feb/20/improving-asian-diaspora-insitutions.
- Andeweg, Rudy and Galen Irwin. 2002. *Governance and Politics of the Netherlands*. Houndsmills, Basingstoke, Hampshire, and New York: Palgrave.
- Arslan, Emre. 2015. Turkish Berlin: integration policy and urban space. Ethnic and Racial Studies 38 (3): 460-2.
- Asis, Maruja M.B. 2011. *Migration and Development in the Philippines: Is Governance the Missing Link?* Quezon City: Scalabrini Migration Centre. www.smc.org.ph/MAPID/Minding%20the%20Gaps%20Book1.pdf.
- Balon Dagupan. 2014. City Creates BRGY OFW Migrant Desk, First in the Region. 20 November 2014. http://dagupan.gov.ph/2014/11/city-creates-brgy-ofw-migrant-desk-first-in-the-region/.
- Bayraktar, Ulas and Élise Massicard. 2012. *Decentralization in Turkey*. Focales 07. Paris: Agence Française de Développement.
- Bilgili, Özge and Melissa Siegel. 2013. From Economic to Political Engagement: Analysing the Changing Role of the Turkish Diaspora. In *Emigration Nations*, ed. Michael Collyer. Houndsmills, Basingstoke, Hampshire, and New York: Palgrave.
- Bilgili, Özge and Silja Weyel. 2012. Diaspora Engagement in Morocco: Understanding the Implications of a Changing Perspective on Capacity and Practices. Migration Policy Brief No. 10, Maastricht Graduate School of Governance, Maastricht. http://mgsog.merit.unu.edu/ISacademie/docs/PB10.pdf.
- Bontenbal, Marike. 2010. Window on the Netherlands—City Networking with the 'Global South': Dutch Policy and Practice. *Tijdschrift voor Economische en Sociale Geografie* 101 (4): 462–72.
- Cesari, Jocelyne. 2013. *Religion and Diasporas: Challenges of the Emigration Countries*. INTERACT Research Report 2. Florence: European University Institute. http://interact-project.eu/docs/publications/Research%20Report/INTERACT-RR-2013-01.pdf.
- Clarke, Nick. 2009. In What Sense 'Spaces of Neoliberalism'? The New Localism, the New Politics of Scale and Town Twinning. *Political Geography* 28: 496–507.
- Collett, Elizabeth and Milica Petrovic. 2014. *The Future of Immigrant Integration in Europe: Mainstreaming Approaches for Inclusion*. Brussels: Migration Policy Institute Europe. www.migrationpolicy.org/research/future-immigrant-integration-europe-mainstreaming-approaches-inclusion.
- Commissioner for Integration and Migration of the Berlin Senate. 2012. *Encouraging Diversity—Strengthening Cohesion: Integration Policy in Berlin 2007-2011*. Berlin: Commissioner for Integration and Migration of the Berlin Senate.
- Council of European Municipalities and Regions (CEMR). 2013. *Decentralisation at a Crossroads: Territorial Reforms in Europe in Times of Crisis*. Brussels: CEMR. www.ccre.org/img/uploads/piecesjointe/filename/CCRE_broch_EN_complete_low.pdf.
- Délano, Alexandra. 2009. From limited to active engagement: Mexico's emigration policies from a foreign policy perspective (2000–2006). *International Migration Review* 43 (4): 764-814.
- _____. 2010. Immigrant Integration vs. Transnational Ties? The Role of the Sending State. *Social Research: An International Quarterly* 77 (1): 237–68.



- Department of Labour and Employment. 2014. DOLE's OWWA, POEA, and PESO launch Migrants' Desks in Palayan City, Four Other Nueva Ecija Towns. Regional and Overseas Updates, March 18, 2014. www.dole.gov.ph/ro_polo_updates/view/685.
- Desiderio, Maria Vincenza with Agnieszka Weinar. 2014. Supporting Immigrant Integration in Europe? Developing the Governance for Diaspora Engagement. Brussels: Migration Policy Institute Europe. www.migrationpolicy.org/research/ immigrant-integration-europe-developing-governance-diaspora-engagement.
- El-Mikawy, Noha and Claudia Melim-McLeod. 2010. *Lebanon: Local Governance in Complex Environments—Project Assessment.* United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) DGTTF Lessons Learned Series. Beirut: UNDP. https://www.undp.org/content/dam/aplaws/publication/en/publications/democratic-governance/dgttf-/lebanon-promotion-of-decentralization-and-local-governance-an-assessment/DGTTF%20Lebanon.pdf.
- Erdal, Marta Bivand. 2013. Migrant Transnationalism and Multi-Layered Integration: Norwegian-Pakistani Migrants' Own Reflections. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 39 (6): 983–99.
- European Commission. 2014. Comenius Programme. Updated 5 September 2014. http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/llp/comenius/comenius_en.php.
- . N.d. Integration Fund—Transnational Actions. Accessed 7 November 2014. http://ec.europa.eu/dgs/home-affairs/financing/fundings/migration-asylum-borders/integration-fund/transnational-actions/index_en.htm.
- Fauser, Margit. 2013. Co-development as Transnational Governance: An Analysis of the Engagement of Local Authorities and Migrant Organizations in Madrid. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 40 (7): 1060–78.
- Gidley, Ben and Maria Luisa Caputo. 2013. *Residential Integration: Towards a Sending Country Perspective*, INTERACT Research Report 2013/04. Florence: European University Institute. http://interact-project.eu/docs/publications/Research%20Report/INTERACT-RR-2013-04.pdf.
- Global Networks of Cities, Local, and Regional Governments. N.d. UCLG Country Profiles: Morocco. Accessed 12 February 2015. www.cities-localgovernments.org/gold/Upload/country_profile/Morocco.pdf.
- _____. N.d. UCLG Country profiles: Tunisia. Accessed 12 February 2015. www.cities-localgovernments.org/gold/Upload/country_profile/Tunisia.pdf.
- Government of Andhra Pradesh, India. N.d. Department of NRI. www.apnri.ap.gov.in/login.do?tr=1423604642786.
- Government of the Netherlands. 2011. Integration policy based on Dutch values. News release, 17 June 2011. www.govern-ment.nl/documents-and-publications/press-releases/2011/06/17/integration-policy-based-on-dutch-values.html.
- Guofu, Liu and Du Zejun. 2014. *The People's Republic of China—Policy and Institutional Frameworks National Report*, INTERACT Research Report 2014/19. Florence: European University Institute. http://cadmus.eui.eu/handle/1814/32660.
- Hamill, Kathleen and Zena Ali-Ahmad. 2007. Local Government in Post-Conflict Situations: Challenges for Improving Local Decision Making and Service Delivery Capacities. Local Governance in Post-Conflict Lebanon. Oslo: UNDP Oslo Governance Center. www.gsdrc.org/go/display&type=Document&id=3494.
- International Organisation for Migration (IOM) and Scalabrini Migration Center. 2013. *Country Migration Report: The Philippines 2013*. Makati City and Quezon City, Philippines: IOM and Scalabrini Migration Center. www.iom.int/files/live/sites/iom/files/Country/docs/CMReport-Philipines-2013.pdf.
- Ionescu, Dina. 2005. Engaging Diasporas as Development Partners for Home and Destination Countries: Challenges for Policymakers. Geneva: IOM. https://www.iom.int/jahia/webdav/site/myjahiasite/shared/shared/mainsite/published_docs/serial_publications/mrs26%20interior.pdf.
- Klinikum Nurnberg. 2012. Respekt und gastfreundschaft. www.klinikum-nuernberg.de/DE/ueber_uns/Archiv_Neuigkeit-en/2012/20120907 Tuerkische Pflegeschuelerinnen.html.
- Laglagaron, Laureen. 2010. Protection through Integration: The Mexican Government's Efforts to Aid Migrants in the United



- *States.* Washington, DC: Migration Policy Institute. http://migrationpolicy.org/research/protection-through-integration-mexican-governments-efforts-aid-migrants-united-states.
- Lum, Kathryn. 2012. India's Engagement with its Diaspora in Comparative Perspective with China. CARIM-INDIA Analytical and Synthetic Note 2012/01, European University Institute, Florence. www.india-eu-migration.eu/media/CARIM-India-ASN2012-01.pdf.
- Metin, Nebiler, Alessandra Venturini, and Ivan Martin. 2013. *The Role of Sending Countries in the Labor Market Assimilation of Immigrants in Host Countries*. INTERACT Report 2013/06. Florence: European University Institute. http://interact-project.eu/docs/publications/Research%20Report/INTERACT-RR-2013-06.pdf.
- Natalicio, Nerissa C. 2011. A Policy Brief on Migrant Desks in Local Government Units (Part 1). *Tawid News Magasin*. http://tawidnewsmag.com/2011/10/a-policy-brief-on-migrant-desks-in-local-government-units-first-part/.
- NEXUS Moldova. 2013. Summary, Strengthening the Link between Migration and Development: Testing an Integrated Service Provider to Moldovan Migrants and their Communities. Moldova: International Agency for Source Country Information.
- *Nokta* Gazetesi. 2010. Okullar arası dostluk köprüleri, 26 December 2010. https://noktagazetesi.wordpress.com/2010/12/26/okullar-arasi-dostluk-kopruleri/#more-210.
- Nurnberg Office of International Relations. 2012. *Nurnberg Annual Report 2012*. Nurnberg: Office of International Relations. www.nuernberg.de/imperia/md/partnerstaedte/dokumente/ib/jahresbericht 2012.pdf.
- Orozco, Manuel. 2010. In Search of Policy Options and Solutions: Family Remittances, Diaspora Partnerships and Development Opportunities. Madrid: Fundación Internacional y para Iberoamérica de Administración y Políticas Públicas (FIIAP).
- Overseas Chinese Affairs Office of Shanghai Municipal People's Government. N.d. Brief Introduction. Accessed 16 October 2014. http://qwb.sh.gov.cn/shqb/english/brief/userobject1ai1249.html.
- Østergaard-Nielsen, Eva. 2011. Codevelopment and Citizenship: The Nexus between Policies on Local Migrant Incorporation and Migrant Transnational Practices in Spain. *Ethnic and Racial Studies* 34 (1): 20–39.
- Penninx, Rinus. 2005. Dutch Integration Policies after the Van Gogh Murder. Ottawa: House of the Commons.
- Penninx, Rinus, Karen Kraal, Marco Martiniello, and Steven Vertovec. 2004. *Citizenship in European Cities: Immigrants, Local Politics and Integration Policies*. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Philippine Department of Labour and Employment. 2011. Revised Guidelines for the Conduct of Job Fairs. www.dole.gov.ph/fndr/bong/files/DO%20113-11.pdf.
- Philippine Statistics Authority. N.d. Concepts and Definitions. Accessed 14 September 2014. www.nscb.gov.ph/activestats/psgc/articles/con_lgu.asp.
- Pinoy-OFW. 2014. OFW Group Calls for Audit of POEA and OWWA. www.pinoy-ofw.com/news/.
- Rat der Gemeinden und Regionen Europas. 2011. Deutsch-türkische Städtepartnerschaften: Bestandsaufnahme und Entwicklungsmöglichkeiten. Tagung des Rats der Gemeinden und Regionen Europas—Deutsche Sektion und der Heinrich-Böll-Stiftung in Nürnberg. Berlin: Heinrich-Böll-Stiftung.
- Sánchez-Montijano, Elena. Forthcoming. *Immigrant Transnational Governance of the Sub-State Authorities: The Case of Catalonia*. http://paperroom.ipsa.org/papers/paper_35791.pdf.
- Snel, Erik, Godfried Engberse, and Arjen Leerkes. 2007. Transnational Involvement and Social Integration. *Global Networks* 6 (3): 285–308.
- State Chancellery of the Republic of Moldova. 2012. Final Declaration of the International Conference—The Decentralization Reform: From Strategy to Action. www.descentralizare.gov.md/libview.php?l=en&idc=249&id=1024.



- Tjandradewi, Bernadia I. and Peter J. Marcotullio. 2009. City-to-City Networks: Asian Perspectives on Key Elements and Areas for Success. *Habitat International: A Journal of the Study of Human Settlements* 33 (2): 165–72.
- Treib, Oliver, Holger Bähr, and Gerda Falkner. 2005. Modes of Governance: A Note towards Conceptual Clarification. *European Governance Papers* 05 (2): 1–22.
- Turkiye Belediyeler Birligi. N.d. Kardes sehirler: Uluslararasi belediye isbirlikleri ve birligimizin rolu. Accessed 27 October 2014. www.tbb.gov.tr.
- Ustun, Hasan. 1997. City twinning boosts tourism Antalya and Nurnberg become twin cities. *Hurriet Daily News*, April 13, 1997. www.hurriyetdailynews.com/city-twinning-boosts-tourism-antalya-and-nurnberg-become-twin-cities-1997-04-13.
- Van der Wusten, Herman and Virginie Mamadouh. 2010. The Networks of European City Governance. In *The Europeanization of Cities: Policies, Urban Change and Urban Networks*, eds. Alexander Hamedinger and Alexander Wolffhardt. Amsterdam: Techne Press.
- Van Ewijk, Edith. 2009. Het stopt niet bij de Gemeentegrens—Samenwerking met Gemeenten in Herkomstlanden. Conference Report, Mammoni, Utrecht, 29 January 2009.
- ______. 2012. Window on the Netherlands—Mutual Learning in Dutch- Moroccan and Dutch-Turkish Municipal Partnerships. Tijdschrift voor Economische en Sociale Geografie 103 (1): 101–09.
- _____. 2013. Between Local Governments and Communities: Knowledge Exchange and Mutual Learning in Dutch-Moroccan and Dutch-Turkish Municipal Partnerships. PhD thesis, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam.
- Van Ewijk, Edith and Isa Baud. 2009. Partnerships between Dutch Municipalities and Municipalities in Countries of Migration to the Netherlands: Knowledge Exchange and Mutuality. *Habitat International* 33 (2): 218–26.
- VNG News Archive. 2006. Moroccan Observers at Local Elections. 22 February 2006. www.vng.nl/nieuws/06-02-22/ma-rokkaanse-waarnemers-bij-de-gemeenteraadsverkiezingen.
- Yurtnaç, Kemal. 2012. Turkey's New Horizon: Turks Abroad and Related Communities. SAM Papers No. 3, Center for Strategic Research, Turkey. http://sam.gov.tr/wp-content/uploads/2012/10/SAM paper ing 03.pdf.



ABOUT THE AUTHORS

Özge Bilgili is a Visiting Research Fellow at the Barcelona Centre for International Affairs. At the Maastricht Graduate School of Governance and United Nations University—Maastricht Economic and Social Research Institute on Innovation and Technology (UNU-MERIT), she is a postdoctoral researcher for the Migrant Integration Policy Index project 'Integration Policies, Who Benefits?', in partnership with the Migration Policy Group.

Dr. Bilgili coordinates research on impact evaluations and undertakes meta-analysis of the impact of integration policy along seven policy dimensions in 18 migrant-receiving countries. Previously, she was a PhD research fellow at the Maastricht Graduate School of Governance, where she worked for 'Migration and Development: A World in Motion', a project financed by the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs (IS Academy).

Dr. Bilgili's expertise in international migration encompasses the topics of transnationalism, immigrant integration, economic and social remittances, return migration, integration and development policies, as well as diaspora engagement policies.



Ilire Agimi is a freelance consultant and researcher affiliated with the Maastricht Graduate School of Governance. She studies governance, democratisation, civil-society engagement, and sustainable development in transitioning economies.

Dr. Agimi holds a PhD in policy analysis from Maastricht University, where she conducted research on the impact of international aid programmes on decision-making processes at the local level in postconflict societies. In 2014 she was a visiting scholar at the Harriman Institute at Columbia University.

Dr. Agimi has extensive experience in policy analysis, capacity building, and training in the fields of public administration reform, decentralisation, service delivery, minority integration, security sector reform, and transitional justice. She has worked with international organisations such as RTI International, the United States Agency for International Development (USAID), and the Department for International Development (DFID) in the Western Balkans.



Migration Policy Institute Europe, established in Brussels in 2011, is a non-profit, independent research institute that aims to provide a better understanding of migration in Europe and thus promote effective policymaking. Building upon the experience and resources of the Migration Policy Institute, which operates internationally, MPI Europe provides authoritative research and practical policy design to governmental and nongovernmental stakeholders who seek more effective management of immigration, immigrant integration, and asylum systems as well as successful outcomes for newcomers, families of immigrant background, and receiving communities throughout Europe. MPI Europe also provides a forum for the exchange of information on migration and immigrant integration practices within the European Union and Europe more generally.

www.MPIEurope.org

Residence Palace 155 Rue de la Loi 5th Floor 1040 Brussels Belgium